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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

KENYA BROWN,
Plaintiff, No. 3:16-cv-01144 (SRU)

V.

SCOTT SEMPLE, et al.,
Defendants.

RULING ON PENDING MOTIONS

Kenya Brown—currently incarcerated at the Cheshire Correctional Institution
(“Cheshire”) in Cheshire, Connecticut—originally filed a civil rights complaint against
Commissioner Scott Semple, Direcof Mental Health Dr. RolseTrestman, Dr. Henry Crabbe,
Dr. Gerald Gagne, Jr., Ward&antiago, Deputy Warden Rob#&tartin, Deputy Warden Jeffrey
Zegarzewski, Captain James Shabanes, Gworal Officer AponteHealth Services
Administrator Ron Labonte, and AdministratiRemedy Coordinator Kimberly Daly. Brown has
now filed a motion for leave to file an amedd=omplaint; two motions to supplement the cover
page of the amended complaint; two motions fdieara motion to file excess interrogatories;
and a motion for extension of time. For the oemsset forth below, | grant Brown’s motion for
leave to amend and his first motion to suppleniemicover page of tremended complaint, and

deny his remaining motions.

Motion to Supplement Cover Page — Aranded Complaint [Docs. Nos. 34 & 35]

Brown has filed a motion for leave to file an amended complaint. Attached to the motion
to amend is a proposed amended complaint. Afbeg the motion for leave to file an amended

complaint, Brown realized that he had left defant Officer Aponte off of the list of defendants
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on the first page of the proposed amended contpldaseeks leave to file a supplemental first
page of the proposed amended conmplénat includefficer Aponte.

The motions to supplement cover pageemsentially identical. Accordingly, | grant
Brown'’s first motion to supplement the coyerge, Doc. No. 34, and deny his second motion,

Doc. No. 35, as moot.

Il. Motion to Amend Complaint [Doc. No. 30]

Brown seeks leave to file an amendethptint to add new claims and defendants.
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a)(1) provitiest “[a] party may amend its pleading once as
of [right] within: (A) 21 days afteserving it, or (B) if the plading is one to which a responsive
pleading is required, [within] 2days after service of a res@ive pleading or 21 days after
service of a motion” to dismiss, for more defirstatement or to strike, “whichever is earlier.”
Because the defendants have not filed a responsive pleading or a Rule 12(b)(6), 12(e) or 12(f)
motion in response to the complaint, Bromay amend once as a matter of right.

Accordingly, | grant Brown’s motion for leauto file an amended complaint. The Clerk
shall docket the proposed amended complaiathéd to Brown’s motion, Doc. No. 30. The
Clerk shall also docket the supplemental fi@ge of the amended complaint attached to
Brown’s motion to supplement cover page, Doo. B4, at 5, as a supplemental first page of the
amended complaint.

I now consider the sufficiency of the allegations in the amended complaint pursuant to 28

U.S.C. 8§ 1915(e)(2)(b) and Rule 8 oétRhederal Rules of Civil Procedure.

A. Standard of Review

Under 28 U.S.C. § 1915(e)(2)(B), a colsttall dismiss a casat any time if it
determines that” the complaint or amended compfaririvolous or malicious . . . fails to state
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a claim upon which relief may lgganted; or seeks monetaryieéfrom a defendant who is
immune from such relief.I'd. Dismissal of a complaint @mended complaint on those grounds
is required “regardless of whether the prigdmes paid the filing &’ or is proceedingn forma
pauperis. See Carr v. Dvorin, 171 F.3d 115, 116 (2d Cir. 1999) (per curiam).

Rule 8 of the Federal Rules of Civil Prdoee requires that a comamt contain “a short
and plain statement of the claim showing thatpleader is entitled to relief.” Fed. R. Civ. P.
8(a)(2). Although detailed alleians are not required, “a comant must contain sufficient
factual matter, accepted as true'state a claim to relief that {g@ausible on its face.” A claim
has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleadgsfual content that allows the court to draw the
reasonable inference that the defendshable for the misconduct allegedshcroft v. Igbal,
556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotiigll Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). A
complaint that includes only “labels and ctusions,’ . . . ‘a formulaic recitation of the
elements of a cause of action,” or “naked asea[s]’ devoid of ‘further factual enhancement”
does not meet the faciplausibility standard.d. (quotingTwombly, 550 U.S. at 555, 557).
“Even afterTwombly” andIgbal, courts “remain obligated to construgra se complaint
liberally,” but the complaint must include sufficteiactual allegations tmeet the standard of

facial plausibility.See Harrisv. Mills, 572 F.3d 66, 72 (2d Cir. 2009) (citations omitted).

B. Allegations

Brown’s amended complaint includes essdigtthe same allegations as his original
complaint but adds new allegations and nefemigants. The defendants named in the amended
complaint are as follows: Commissioner Scott Sempirector of Mental Health Dr. Robert
Trestman, Dr. Henry Crabbe, Warden Antoniot&ayo, Deputy Warden Robert Martin, Deputy

Warden Jeffrey Zegarzewski, Captain James &Medy Dr. Gerald Gagne, Jr., Dr. Paul Chaplin,



Dr. Berger, Lieutenant Halloraby. Bruce Lichtenstein, Dent8lirector Dr. Benoint, Dr. Craig
Burns, Nurse Sandy Pepin, Nurse George, tHezrvices Administrator Sharon Brown,
Grievance Coordinator Michelle King, Dr. Edizeth Coursen, Nurse Kim, and Correctional
Officer Luis Apontet

Brown claims that, since 1993, various mehelth professionals have prescribed
medications to treat his various mentalltfteaonditions including, borderline personality
disorder, anxiety, anti-social traits, su@iddeation, self-mutilation, depression, and post-
traumatic stress disorder. Commissioner Serapteother Department of Correction officials
have created several “inmate pkeg” that restrict interactionsetween Brown and other inmates
because of past incidents. Brown alleges thati#fendants have used those profiles to prevent
him from being housed at Garner Correctidnatitution (“Garner”) or Osborn Correctional
Institution (“*Osborn”) because the other innsawdth whom Brown had prior conflicts are
housed at those facilities attte facilities are not large endugp accommodate both Brown and
the other inmates. Brown contends that Gaamer Osborn are the only prison facilities in
Connecticut that are equipped to trieistvarious mentaiealth conditions.

Brown states, that as of May 2016, hd baen confined at Corrigan Correctional
Institution (“Corrigan”) for three years. Heserts that at some point prior to May 19, 2016, a
former warden and a deputy warden of Gyani as well as a nuraad a psychologist who
worked at Corrigan had approved of and implengeatparticular form of behavioral treatment
for him. According to Brown, that treatment was®essful in addressing the behaviors that were

caused by his various mentaalth conditions.

1 The new defendants are Dr.riéint, Dr. Berger, Health Sepes Administrator Brown, Dr.
Burns, Dr. Chaplin, Dr. Coursen, Nurse Gegigeutenant Halloran, Nurse Kim, Grievance
Coordinator King, Dr. Lichtestein, and Nurse Pepin.
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Prior to May 2016, the nurse and the psyobt left Corrigan and the warden and
deputy warden were replaced by Warden Santiago and Deputy Wardens Robert Martin and
Jeffery Zegerzewski. The new administrataarCorrigan—which included Warden Santiago,
Deputy Wardens Martin and Zegerzewski, Cap&tiabenas, and Lieutenant Halloran—did not
authorize the treatment methods used byidhaer nurse and psychologist, and the new
members of the mental health staff at Ggan abandoned those methods of treating Brown.
Brown claims that Santiago, Martin, ZegerzewSkhabenas and Halloran were deliberately
indifferent to his mental health needs wheseytho longer permitted mental health professionals
at Corrigan to treat him using the methodsspribed by the former nurse and psychologist.

Brown also alleges that Dr. Coursen wassychologist at Corrigefor a period of two
years prior to his transfer to CheshireMay 31, 2016. During that twvyear period, Brown’s
relationship with Dr. Coursen allegedly chandiean a doctor-patient relationship to a more
personal, physical, and sexual relationshiptitdes, Dr. Coursen wouliirce Brown to take
medication to reduce his anxietyrahg their elicit encounters.

Warden Santiago, Deputy Wardens Madimd Zegerzewski, Captain Shabenas, Dr.
Crabbe, and Dr. Chaplin alleggdkere aware of Dr. Courseninappropriate conduct toward
Brown. Nurse Kim was the assistant to Dr. Gmland her office was close to Dr. Coursen’s
office. Nurse Kim allegedly observed Dr. Courseimappropriate behavior, but failed to take
any action to stop it.

Brown also asserts that at some timerayhis confinement at Corrigan prior to May
2016, Michelle King was his counselor. She wisegadly in contact with Dr. Coursen and
became aware of the inappropeiaelationship between DroGrsen and Brown. As of May

2016, Michelle King was a Grievaa Coordinator at Corrigan.



On May 19, 2016, Brown became involved in a heated debate with Officer Aponte.
Brown became agitated and tried to harm him§xficer Aponte called a code and escorted
Brown to the medical infirmary. Dr. Courserapéd Brown in a cell on observation status.

At the time of his placement in the infirngaBrown required partial dentures in order to
chew his food. Brown claims that after his tramgb the infirmary at Corrigan, Officer Aponte
and Lieutenant Halloran prepared and packethegproperty in his celh general population
and placed it in temporary storage. They ndglto prepare an inventory of Brown’s property
items. In addition, they failed to give Brown’srderes to the medical department and instead
discarded them. Brown has baamable to eat on one sidelas mouth without the partial
dentures.

At some point, after the plaintiff's placenten the medical infirmary, Warden Santiago,
Deputy Warden Martin, Deputy Warden ZegergkwCaptain Shabenas, Health Services
Administrator Labonte, Dr. GagnBr. Crabbe, Dr. Chaplin, DBerger, Dr. Burns, and Dr.
Coursen concluded that the only piide course of action was tafirsfer Brown to Cheshire. Dr.
Crabbe adjusted Brown’s mental health scofadditate his transfer to Cheshire. On May 31,
2016, Warden Santiago issued an order that Bimsvnansferred to Chieise and correctional
officers transported Browto Cheshire that day.

Brown claims that during his confinementtie infirmary at Corrigan from May 19,
2016 to May 31, 2016, Dr. Coursen searched hisopatgproperty for letters from her to him
and photographs of his family friends in an eftortover-up her inappropte relationship with
him. Brown contends that Dr.oQrsen destroyed some of higgmnal photographs before prison

officials transferred him to Cheshire on May 31, 2016.



Brown claims that the appropriate mentaahh professionals, seurces and services
necessary to treat his mental ilinesses are urlaiat Cheshire. Brown contends that Drs.
Gagne, Crabbe, Chaplin, Berger, Burns, andr€en, Warden Santiago, Deputy Wardens Robert
Martin and Jeffery Zegerzewski, Captain Strados, Lieutenant Hallan, and Administrator
Labonte were all aware that Cheshtould not provide him with the appropriate mental health
treatment, but transferred him anyway.

Brown claims that during his confinement in the infirmary at Corrigan in May 2016, Dr.
Gagne was a psychiatrist atlidsn and Northern Correctioniastitution (“Northern”). Dr.

Gagne allegedly refused to permit Brown tafaasferred to Osborn and approved the decision
to transfer Brown to Cheshire rataliation for Brown'’s filing ofpast grievances and complaints
about mental health treatment.

On June 1, 2016, at Cheshire, a psycholadisgedly informed Brown that Cheshire was
not equipped to treat his mentedalth conditions. The psycholsgcontacted Drs. Berger and
Chaplin regarding the unsuitability of ChesHiwe Brown’s mental health needs, but they took
no action.

On June 3, 2016, Brown informed Nurse Gedhg¢ he could not keep bulk medications
in his cell because of his attempts to harmdalf. After Brown retured to his housing unit,
Nurse George allegedly falsely accused hirbaihg suicidal. Although Nurse Pepin was not
present in the medical department when Brepoke to Nurse George, Nurse Pepin confirmed
the observations of Nurse George with regarBrown’s suicidal sitements. Correctional
officers handcuffed Brown and brought him to segregation unit. Brown was forced to endure

a humiliating strip search. Nurses Georgd Bepin caused Brown be placed on behavior



observation status. The behaviotrservation cell was filthy and tisenk and toilet could not be
used. Brown remained in the cell on behawabservation status until June 6, 2016.

Brown also asserts that DBenoint and Lichtenstein failed provide him with dental
treatment during his confinement at ChesHimeaddition, they did not replace his partial
dentures in a timely manner.

Beginning in July 2016, Brown met with DZhaplin on a regular basis at Cheshire.
During his sessions with Dr. Chaplin, Brown reth&dl of the inappropriate behavior exhibited
by Dr. Coursen during her treatment of him at Qami and that he had been forced to become
involved in a sexual relationship twiDr. Coursen. Dr. Chaplin fad to report those allegations

pursuant to the Prison Rape Elimination Act.

C. Discussion

As a preliminary matter, Brown'’s proposathended complaint does not comply with
Rule 8's pleading requirements. Rule 8(a)(2) rezpithat a complaint cait “a short and plain
statement of the claim showing that the pleadentgled to relief.” Rule 8(d)(1) provides that
“[e]ach allegation must be simple, concise andati” The purpose of Rule 8 is “to permit the
defendant to have a fair undersding of what the plaintiff isomplaining about and to know
whether there is a legbhsis for recovery.'Ricciutti v. N.Y.C. Trans. Auth., 941 F.2d 119, 123
(2d Cir. 1991). In addition, “the keiserves to sharpen the isstebe litigated and to confine
discovery and the presetitan of evidence at triakithin reasonable boundsPowell v. Marine
Midland Bank, 162 F.R.D. 15, 16 (N.D.N.Y. 1995). Th&intiff's statenent of his claim
“should be short because ‘[ulnnecessary prolixitg pleading places an unjustified burden on

the court and the party who must respond tedanse they are forced to select the relevant



material from a mass of verbiageSalahuddin v. Cuomo, 861 F.2d 40, 42 (2d Cir. 1988)
(quoting 5 C. Wright & A. Miller,Federal Practice and Procedure § 1281, at 365 (1969)).

When a litigant does not comply with Rule 8's requirements, the court may strike any
portion of the complaint that isadandant or immaterial pursuaiot Rule 12(f). Alternatively, the
court may dismiss the complaint in its entirgtyfhose cases “in which the complaint is so
confused, ambiguous, vague, or otherwise unintbleghat its true substance, if any, is well
disguised."Salahuddin, 861 F.2d at 42. For example,Salahuddin, the Second Circuit had “no
doubt” that a complaint “span[ning] 15 singlpaced pages and contain[ing] explicit
descriptions of 20-odd defendants, their officiasiions, and their roles ithe alleged denials of
[the plaintiff]'s rights” failed to comply witlRule 8's requirement of a “short and plain
statement.’ld. at 43. Accordingly, the Second Circuit statkdt “the district court was within
the bounds of discretion to strike or disntiss complaint for noncompliance with Rule &

In the present case, Brown’s proposed amegdatplaint is neither “short and plain” nor
“simple.” As indicated above, Browariginally named eleven defendadt§he amended
complaint adds twelve new defendants: tézant Halloran, Dr. Chaplin, Dr. Berger, Dr.
Lichtenstein, Nurse Pepin, Nurse GeorgerdelKim, Dr. Benoint, Health Services
Administrator Brown, Dr. Course Dr. Burns, and Grievanceo@rdinator Michelle King. The
amended complaint raises 30 claims for reliefrdkie course of 300 paragraphs and 59 pages;
another 115 pages are attached as exhibits. Thaeirts to which the amended complaint refers
occurred at two different fdities over a period of several years. Like the complaint in

Salahuddin, Brown'’s pleading here efrly “contains a surfedf detail.” 861 F.2d at 43.

2 | dismissed all claims against one defartd&rievance Administrator Kimberly Dal§ee
Initial Review Order, Doc. No. 15, at 9-10.



1. Dental, Deliberate Indifference to Safety/Failure to Protect, and Improper Placement
in Segregation Claims

Many of the claims in Brown’s amended comptare entirely unrelated to those in the
original complaint. Those claims include ¢he allegations agast Drs. Benoint and
Lichtenstein regarding dentabatment; (2) thallegations againstefendants Aponte and
Halloran regarding the loss of Braig partial dentureg3) the allegations against Drs. Coursen,
Chaplin, Berger, and Crabbe, Warden Saatjdeputy Wardens Martin and Zegerzewski,
Captain Shabenas, Grievance Coordinator Kind,Murse Kim regarding the inappropriate and
potentially harmful relationship between @oursen and Brown during his confinement at
Corrigan; and (4) the allegatioagainst defendant King, asd@vn’s counselor, regarding his
placement in segregation at Corrigan prior to May 2016.

Those claims are not related to each o#mef involve different defendants. Thus, the
amended complaint fails to meet the requirete®f Rule 20 governing party joinder. Rule
20(a)(2) permits the joinder afiultiple defendants in a single it if two criteria are met: (1)
the claims “aris[e] out of the same transaatioccurrence, or series of transactions and
occurrences”; and (b) “any questianfdaw or fact common to all defendants will arise in the
action.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 20(a)(2). “What will cditgte the same transaction or occurrence under
the first prong of Rule 20(a) &pproached on a case by case bas{&ir exrel. Kehr v.

Yamaha Motor Corp., U.SA., 596 F. Supp. 2d 821, 826 (S.D.N.Y. 2008) (citation omitted). As

the Second Circuit has observed in the Rule 13 cohtelether a counterclaim arises out of the

3 “In construing the term ‘transaction or ocence’ under Rule 20, many courts have drawn
guidance from the use of the same term in Rule 13(a), applying to compulsory counterclaims.
Barnhart v. Town of Parma, 252 F.R.D. 156, 160 (W.D.N.Y. 200&ge also 7 Charles Alan

Wright & Arthur R. Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure § 1653 (3d ed.).
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same transaction as the original claims depepds the logical relationghbetween the claims
and whether the “essential facts of the variclasms are so logically connected that
considerations of judicial economy and fairnessade that all the issué® resolved in one
lawsuit.” Harrisv. Seinem, 571 F.2d 119, 123 (2d Cir. 1978).

Brown’s various claims for deliberate indifeace to mental hedlt safety, and dental
needs, as well as his claims related to his aper placement in segregation and the loss of his
partial dentures, occurred at two differentlfdaes over a three-yegreriod. Because those
claims do not “aris[e] out of the same transactioccurrence, or serie$ transactions and
occurrences,” the amended complaint also faitotaply with Rule 20(1)(2). | dismiss Brown’s
dental claims, his delibate indifference to mental healthcasafety claims, and his segregation
placement claims against Drs. Benoint, Licistein, Coursen, Chaplin, Berger, and Crabbe,
Officer Aponte, Lieutenant Halloran, Wamal Santiago, Deputy Wardens Martin and
Zegerzewski, Captain Shabenas, Grievanoardinator King, and Nurse Kim for failure to
comply with Rules 8 and 20 of thedezal Rules of Civil Procedure.

The court notes that in addition to failingdomply with Rules 8 and 20 of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure, Brown'’s claims regaglaoental treatment andehoss of his dentures,
as well as his claims regarding Dr. Coursen, areeaas duplicative of alms asserted in two
other actions filed in this court. A district coertjoys substantial discreti to manage its docket
efficiently to avod duplicate litigationSee Taylor v. Rodriguez, 238 F.3d 188, 197 (2d Cir.
2001) (“In administeringts docket, a district court may dismiss a second suit as duplicative of
an earlier suit . . . .”). Alaintiff has “no right to maintain tavactions on the same subiject in the
same court, against the same defendant at the same@unts'v. Citibank, N.A., 226 F.3d 133,

139 (2d Cir. 2000). The Second Circuit has codel that “[tlhe complex problems that can
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arise from multiple federal filings do not lend theitass to a rigid test, but require instead that
the district court consider the equitiestoé situation when exeising its discretion.Td.
Generally, “the first suifto be filed] should have prioritgbsent the showg of balance of
convenience . .. or ... special circums&s. . . giving prioty to the second.”Adam v. Jacobs,
950 F.2d 89, 92 (2d Cir. 1991) (akéions in original).

If it is possible for a plaintiff to amend the complaint in each action to “comprehend all
the issues and all the parties now involveditineg,” the continuation of the first action to be
filed is favored See Hammett v. Warner Brothers Pictures, 176 F.2d 145, 150 (2d Cir. 1949);
Gyadu v. Hartford Ins. Co., 133 F.3d 907 (2d Cir. 1998) (affiing dismissal under “prior
pending action doctrine” when plaintiff “still Hathe opportunity to raise the[] [additional]
causes of action in his amended complaint in his first action”). To determine whether a claim is
barred by the prior pending actionaiine, the court may rely on a comparison of the pleadings
filed in the two actions.

Brown has asserted the same dental treatarahtost denture claims in the complaint
filed in Brown v. Benoit, No. 3:17-cv-00053 (SRU), and has asserted the same claims of
deliberate indifference to safety and mentlth needs/failure to protect regarding Dr.
Coursen’s alleged relationship with him in the complaint fileBriown v. Semple, No. 3:17-cv-
01328 (SRU). Drs. Benoint and Lichtésis are named as defendant8mown v. Benoit, No.
17-cv-00053 (SRU), and the issud#ghe loss of Brown’s partial déures and deal of dental
treatment are being litigated in that casehgitgh Officer Aponte and eutenant Halloran are
not named as defendants, | cannot discdm Brown could not amend his complaintBrown
v. Benoit to add Officer Aponte andieutenant Halloran as defdants and to add his claim

against them regarding the lagsBrown'’s partial dentures.
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Likewise, all of the defendants namecdconnection with Dr. Coursen’s alleged
inappropriate relationship and treatmenBobwn in this action are also namedBrown v.

Semple, No. 17-cv-01328 (SRU), except for Nuksien and Deputy Warden Martin. | cannot
discern why Brown could not ameht complaint in the latter case add Nurse Kim and
Deputy Warden Martin as defendants.

Although the present cases filed before botBrown v. Benoit, No. 3:17-cv-00053
(SRU), andBrown v. Semple, No. 17-cv-01328 (SRU), the pripending action doctrine permits
the dismissal of claims in the first-filed eawhere the “balance abnvenience” weighs “in
favor of the second-filed actionSee Adam, 950 F.2d at 93-94. | alreadyMaaissued an Initial
Review Order permitting Brown’s dental claims to proceerown v. Benoit, see Doc. No. 7,

No. 17-cv-00053 (SRU), and the defendants hgypeared in that case. | also already have
issued an Initial Review Order Brown v. Semple, No. 3:17-cv-01328 (SRU), permitting several
of Brown’s claims to proceed regarding his alleged improper relationship with Dr. Cdtasen.
Doc. No. 11jd. Therefore, | conclude that it would bepaopriate to have all of Brown’s claims
regarding relationship with Dr. Courseesolved in the second-filed acti@e Holliday v. City

of Newington, 2004 WL 717160, at *2 (D. Conn. Mar. 19,020 (dismissing first-filed action
under prior pending action doctriaad resolving all claims in second-filed action “because the
second-filed case involves the same claims as the claims in the first-filed case as well as the
same defendants, the defendants have appeatiegl second-filed cas@éa the court has already
issued a scheduling ordertime second-filed case”).

Thus, | also dismiss Brown’s claims regaigiidental care and loss of dentures against
Officer Aponte and Lieutenant Haran, and his claim regarding D€oursen’s treatment against

Drs. Coursen, Chaplin, Berger, Crabbe riiéam Santiago, Deputy Wardens Martin and
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Zegerzewski, Captain Shabenas, Grievance dioator King, and Nurse Kim, pursuant to the

prior pending action doctrin€ee 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1915(e)(2)(b)(ii).

2. Claims Related to Mental Health Treatment at Corrigan in May 2016

Brown'’s allegations in paragraphs 1%@and 39 to 167 of the amended complaint
essentially mirror the allegations asserted endhiginal complaint regarding Brown’s treatment
at Corrigan from May 19, 2016 to May 31, 2016 (d@ae of his transfer to Cheshire). With
regard to those allegations, Brown seeksdih laeutenant Halloran and Drs. Berger, Burns and
Chaplin as defendants because he claims thgatvtlere either involveth creating or applying
the policies that caused him to be transferred to Cheshire from Corrigan, or else were directly
involved in the decision to transfer him.

Brown seeks to add allegations that challetimgeDepartment of Grection’s policies or
directives governing the transferaf inmate to other facilitieshen the inmate has a profile due
to conflicts with other inmates or staff membe&se Am. Compl., Doc. No. 30, at 8-11, T 10—
33. He identifies the policies as thosmtained in the Department of Correction’s
Administrative Directies 9.9(6)(B) and 8.5(9%ceid. at 8, { 10-11. Brown claims that those
policies were the basis for the defendants’ decigidransfer him to Cheshire instead of to a
more appropriate facility that atd provide him with mental healtreatment, such as Osborn or
Garner. He challenges the policies as viotathe Eighth Amendment both facially and as
applied to him. He claims that Drs. BergTrestmoon, Burns and Chaplin and Commissioner
Semple were responsible for using those polimeteprive him of appriate mental health
treatment in May 2016.

| conclude that the new allegations ar#isiently related tathe claims underlying

Brown'’s original complaint. Thus, the Eighth Antnent claims asserted in paragraphs ten to
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thirty-three of the amended complaint will proceed against Commissioner Semple, Warden
Santiago, Deputy Wardens Martin and Zegarzews&ptain Shabanes, Lieutenant Halloran, and

Drs. Berger, Burns, Chaplin, and Trestman.

3. Retaliation Claims

Brown generally asserts that Commissionenfle and Drs. Berger, Burns, Chaplin and
Trestman retaliated against him by implementingapulying the policies that have resulted in
the denial of proper mental health treatment for his various condiiessl. at 12, {1 34—38.
He claims that the policies have been used aghinmsto restrict mental health treatment, and
that the defendants implemented and appliegttieies in retaliation for his filing a prior
lawsuit regarding dangerous or unwanted siifiects of a medication prescribed to hiseeid.

Brown also generally alleges that the coriciidOfficer Aponte and Lieutenant Halloran
in discarding his partial denturasthe time of his transfer tbe infirmary at Corrigan on May
19, 2016 was retaliatorgeeid. at 34, 1 194. In addition, hemgrally asserts that Grievance
Coordinator King’s conduct in failing to proaekis grievances properly constituted retaliatory
conduct.Seeid. at 26, 1 130.

Brown claims that, during the period thatwas in the infirmary at Corrigan in May
2016, Health Services Administrator Labonte spoke to Dr. Gagne and asked him to accept
Brown at OsbornSeeid. at 23, 11 111-113. Dr. Gagne refuseddaomit Brown to be transferred
to Osborn and also was invotie approving the decision tansfer Brown to Cheshir&eeid.
Brown claims that Dr. Gagne refused to acdept at Osborn and supported the decision of
prison officials at Corrigan to transfer him@heshire in retaliatiofor his filing of past

grievances and complaints abouwgntal health treatmergeeid.
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“In general, a section 1983 claim will Wehere the government takes negative action
against an individual because of his exercise of rights guaranteed by the Constitution or federal
laws.” Friedl v. City of New York, 210 F.3d 79, 85 (2d Cir. 2000). That principle also “applies in
the prison context.I'd. Because claims of taiation are easily fabricated, courts “approach
prisoner retaliation claims with sgticism” and require that thde supported by specific facts.
Dolan v. Connoally, 794 F.3d 290, 295 (2d Cir. 2015). Conchysallegations of retaliation are
not sufficient; such claims must “be supporgdspecific and detailefdctual allegations.ld.
(internal quotation marks omitted). To state a rataln claim, a plaintiff must show that (1) his
conduct or speech was protected by the Constitwdr federal law; (2) prison officials took
adverse action against him; and (3) thegxtid conduct or speech was a substantial or
motivating factor in the alleged retaliagyasr adverse action by prison officialee Gill v.
Pidlypchak, 389 F.3d 379, 380 (2d Cir. 2004).

Brown’s claims that Drs. Berger, Trestm@urns, and Chaplin, Commissioner Semple,
Aponte, Halloran, and King engaged in retaligtconduct are conclusory. Such claims of
retaliation are not cognib&e under section 1983, and | dismiss them for failure to state a claim.
See 28 U.S.C. § 1915(e)(2)(b)(ii).

The facts as alleged against Dr. Gagnesafficient to state plausible claim of

retaliation. Thus, the rdtation claim against Dr. Gagne will proceed.

4. New Grievance Procedure Claims

Brown claims that Michelle King was aglgnated Administrative Remedy/Grievance
Coordinator at Corrigan in Ma2016. In his original complainBrown named Administrative
Remedy Coordinator Daly as a defendantsirdssed all claims agast Coordinator DalySee

Initial Review Order, Doc. No. 15, at 7-10.
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Brown now asserts essaily the same claims against Administrative
Remedy/Grievance Coordinator King as ha against Administrate Remedy Coordinator
Daly. He claims that Coordinat&ing violated his FourteentAmendment rights by making it
difficult or impossible for him to exhaustshadministrative remees. Specifically, Brown
alleges that Coordinator Kingifad to replenish the supply of administrative remedy forms in
the officers’ station or replacede forms with out of date forms; rejected Brown’s grievances
because she claimed that he had not attentptedormally resolve his issues; and did not
respond to his grievances or returieem as deficient in some w&§ee Am. Compl., Doc. No.
30, at 25, 1 122.

It is well-established that “inmate grievae programs created by state law are not
required by the Constitution and consequentlygali®ns that prison officials violated those
procedures do[] not give rige a cognizable § 1983 clainhell v. Brzesniak, 365 F. Supp. 2d
362, 370 (W.D.N.Y. 2005). In additn, “prisoners do not have a dpeocess right to a thorough
investigation of grievances.Tafari v. McCarthy, 714 F. Supp. 2d 317, 347 (N.D.N.Y.2010)
(citing Torresv. Mazzuca, 246 F. Supp. 2d 334, 341-42 (S.D.N.Y. 2003) (“The corrections
officers’ failure to properly address [jphiff's] grievancesby conducting a thorough
investigation to his satisfaoti does not create a cause dfacfor denial of due process
because [plaintiff] was not deprived of a protedilkedrty interest.”)). | caclude that the claims
against Coordinator Kingith regard to her alleged nonsapliance with the procedures set
forth in the Department of Correction’s administratremedy directive do not rise to the level of
a violation under the Fourteenth Amendment.

Furthermore, if a prison official either piéves an inmate of access to the grievance

system or refuses to process @ggince, the inmate is not preded from directly petitioning the
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government for redress of that claim through a lawwsicourt. In fact, Brown availed himself of
his right of access to ¢éhcourts by filing five lawsuits ithis court from May 20, 2016 to August
7, 2017, including this cageAccordingly, | dismiss Browrs claim that Administrative
Remedies/Grievance Coordinatomigilimited his First Amendmentgint to access the courts by
failing to properly process his grievances fxHl of an arguable lebar factual basisSee 28

U.S.C. § 1915(e)(2)(b)(ii).

5. Conspiracy Claim Against Coordinator King and Administrator Brown

Brown generally asserts that Admin&tve Remedies/Grievance Coordinator King
conspired with other defendants, including War8eantiago, to keep him from exhausting his
remedies by refusing to accept or process his grievances regarding his placement in the infirmary
at Corrigan and the decision to transfer him to Ches&seAm. Compl., at 25, 1 121-22.
Brown contends that Health Services Admiriir Brown conspired with Health Services
Administrator LabonteSeeid. at 57. He contends that Admistrator Brown accepted telephone
calls from Labonte and other defendaabout his transf to CheshireSeeid.

To state a claim for conspiracy under grtil983, Brown must alige facts showing (1)
“an agreement between tworpore state actors” (2) “to att concert to inflict an
unconstitutional injury” on Brown;rad (3) “an overt act done in fintrance of that goal causing
damages.Pangburn v. Culbertson, 200 F.3d 65, 72 (2d Cir. 1999). The Second Circuit has
consistently held that a claim obnspiracy to viola civil rights requires more than general

allegations. “[Clomplaints containg only conclusory, vague, general allegations that the

4 See Brown v. Smpson, No. 3:16-cv-00781(SRU) (filed May 20, 201&y,0wn v. Semple, No.
3:16-cv-01144 (SRU) (filed July 8, 201&rown v. Benoit, No 3:17-cv-00053 (SRU) (filed Jan.
12, 2017)Cruz, et al. v. Semple, No 3:17-cv-00348 (JBA) (filed Feb. 28, 201Bypwn v.

Semple, No 3:17-cv-01328 (SRU) (filed Aug. 7, 2017).
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defendants have engaged in a conspiracy to deprive the plaintiff of his constitutional rights are
properly dismissed; diffuse and expansivegatens are insufficient, unless amplified by

specific instances of misconducCiambriello v. Cnty. of Nassau, 292 F.3d 307, 325 (2d Cir.

2002) (quotingddwaresv. City of New York, 985 F.2d 94, 100 (2d Cir. 1993)).

Brown has asserted no facts from whiclowld infer the existence of a conspiracy by
Coordinator King and the other daffants to violate Brown'’s corittional rights with regard to
the exhaustion of his administiree remedies. Nor has he allegects suggesting a conspiracy
by Administrator Brown to violate Brown’astitutional rights by accepting telephone calls
regarding his transfer from Corrigan to Chesirhe claims that Administrator Brown and
Coordinator King conspired to violate Brownsnstitutional rights are conclusory, at best.

Therefore, Brown has not asserted a gilale conspiracy claim against either
Administrator Brown or Coordinator King. | dismiss Brown’s conspiracy claims against

Coordinator King anddministrator BrownSee 28 U.S.C. 8 1915(e)(2)(b)(ii).

6. Mental Health Treatment and Conditions at Cheshire

Brown asserts that, on June 3, 2016, he inforfi@de George that he could not keep
bulk medications in his cell due to his “self inpus nature.” Am. ComplDoc. No. 30, at 31,
169. After Brown returned to his housing unit,riskiei George accused him of being suicidal and
issued an order that he be placed on behavior observation Seetigs.at § 170. Although Nurse
Pepin was not present in the medical depamtmdien Brown spoke to Nurse George, Nurse
Pepin confirmed the observations of Nurse Gearngje regard to Brown’s suicidal statement.

Seeid. at 171,
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Correctional officers handcuffed Brown anabght him to the segregation unit to be
placed on behavior observation staee id. at 31-32, 11 173-74. The officers performed a
strip search on Brown before placingn in a safety gown in the ceflieeid. at 32,  178.

A mental health worker came $peak to Brown an hour laté&ee Exs. DD & FF to Am.
Compl., Doc. No. 31, at 4647, 50-51. The mentaltlhhearker made the decision to maintain
Brown on behavioobservation statu&ee Ex. FF, Doc. No. 31, at 50-51. Brown claims that the
behavior observation cell was filthy atite sink and toilet could not be us&e Am. Compl.,

Doc. No. 30, at 33, § 186. Pursuant to the orders of the mental health worker, Brown remained in
the cell on behavior observation status until June 6, Z&@#@Ex. EE to Am. Compl., Doc. No.
31, at 48-49.

Brown claims that Nurses Pepin and Geongee deliberately indifferent to his mental
health needs and safety. The exhibits to thermlad complaint reflect, however, that Nurses
Pepin and George reasonably perceived statisnesde by Brown to be statements suggesting
the possibility of self-harntee Ex EE, FF, & GG to Am. Compl., Doc. No. 31 at 48-51. They
directed custody officials to place Brown in al @&l observation status pyotect his safety. The
mental health worker who interviewed Browntaour after he was placed on observation status
determined that Brown should remain on behavior st&se€x. FF to Am. Compl., Doc. No.

31, at 50-51.

Brown'’s allegations against Nurses Pegid George do not constitute claims of
deliberate indifference to mental health nedasprotect Brown from himself, they placed him
on behavior observation statusrmfental health worker subseaquily affirmed the decision to
place Brown on behavior observation statuscakdingly, | dismiss Brown’s claims against

Nurses Pepin and Geordgiee 28 U.S.C. § 1915(e)(2)(b)(ii).
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Brown'’s only allegation agaihsiealth Services Adminisitor Brown regarding his
confinement at Cheshire is thae administrator respondedBoown’s grievance regarding his
placement on behavior observation status. e 23, 2016, Administrator Brown indicated that
she would follow up with all medical and mentaalth employees who were involved in the
placement of Brown on behavior observation steessAm. Compl., Doc. No. 30, at 33, { 179;
Ex. DD to Am. Compl., Doc. No. 31, at 46—47. | note that Brown has also attached to the
amended complaint Administrator Brown’s respots an inmate request submitted by Brown in
July 2016. The request and Administrator Brosw&sponse address Brown’s questions about
how he might challenge mental health pokciBrown’s allegations against Administrator
Brown regarding her responses to one grievamckone inmate remedy request fail to state a
claim of a violation of Brown’s constitutional éederally protected right3.hus, | dismiss that
claim.See 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1915(e)(2)(b)(ii).

Although Brown complains that the cellwhich he was placed on June 3, 2016 was
unsanitary and the sink and toietuld not be used, he does ns$ert that he made any of the
defendants aware of those corwlis. When a mental health tker evaluated him on June 6,
2016, he stated that he had been baorager strike for two and one-half dagse Ex. EE to Am.
Compl., Doc. No. 31, at 48-49. Brown was released from the behavior observation status cell
later that daySee id. Brown has not alleged that any dedant was aware of the conditions of
confinement in his observation status cell frdmme 3, 2016 to June 6, 2016. As such, Brown has
not stated that the defendants subjected hiomtmnstitutional conditions of confinement. |
dismiss without prejudice Bravis Eighth Amendment claim regarding the conditions in the

behavior observation cellee 28 U.S.C. § 1915(e)(2)(b)(ii).
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Finally, Brown also asserts tha¢ underwent a strip search in front of at least fifteen
unidentified officers prior to beg placed in the behavior obgation cell. He does not assert,
however, that any of the defendamtere present for or involved ihe strip search. Thus, he has
not alleged that any of the defiants violated his Eighth Amenemt rights in connection with
the strip search. | dismiss withoueprdice Brown’s strip search claifgee 28 U.S.C. §

1915(e)(2)(b)(ii).

7. Fifth and Sxth Amendment Claims

On the first page of the amended complaint, Bratates that he isserting violations of
the First, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth émiments to the United States Constitution.
The Fifth Amendment applies to thedégal government, not to the statgse Dusenbery v.

United Sates, 534 U.S. 161, 167 (2002) (stating that Fifth Amendment’s Due Process Clause
protects citizens against only federal goweent actors, not State officialg)mbrose v. City of

New York, 623 F. Supp. 2d 454, 466 (S.D.N.Y. 2009) (hujdihat any due process claim against
a city was “properly brought under . . . theurteenth Amendment, not . . . the Fifth
Amendment”). Because Brown has not allegegl@aprivation of his rights by the federal
government, | dismiss any Fifth Amendment claims against the defen8=e28 U.S.C. §
1915(e)(2)(b)(ii).

The Sixth Amendment provides:

[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the acadasshall enjoy theght to a speedy
and public trial, by an impartial julgf the State and district wherein the
crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been
previously ascertained by law, anda® informed of the nature and cause
of the accusation; to be confronted witle witnesses against him; to have

compulsory process for obtaining wigses in his favor, and to have the
Assistance of Counsel for his defen[s]e.
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U.S. Const. amend. VI. Brown does not allegesfaotstate a claim that any of the defendants
violated his rights under anyquision of the Sixth Amendment. Thus, | dismiss Brown’s Sixth
Amendment claims as lacking an arguablettial or legal basis pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §

1915(e)(2)(b)(ii).

8. Section 1985 and Section 1986 Claims

In addition to filing this atton pursuant to 42 U.S.@.1983, Brown pursues claims
under 42 U.S.C. 88 1985 and 1986. The first twoettimns of 42 U.S.C. § 1985 clearly are not
relevant to this action. Sectid®85(1) prohibits conspiracies to prevent federal officials from
performing their duties, and section 1985(2) prihibonspiracies intenray to deter witnesses
from participating in state or deral judicial proceedings. Brownmet a federal official and his
claims are not related fmarticipation of witnesses judicial proceedings.

In order to state a claim under section 1335the plaintiff must allege: (1) the
defendants were part of a consgy; (2) the purpose oféhconspiracy was to “deprivie] . . . any
person or class of persons of the equal priatecif the laws, or oéqual privileges and
immunities under the laws”; (3) an avéact [taken] in furtherancef . . . [the] conspiracy”; and
(4) an injury to the plaintiff's “ person or propgftor a deprivation of his “right or privilege.”
See Griffin v. Breckenridge, 403 U.S. 88, 102—-03 (1971). Furthermadhe plaintiff must show
that the conspiracy was motivated by a “ramalperhaps otherwise class-based, invidiously
discriminatory animus.l'd. at 102. Section 1985(3) may notdmnstrued as a “general federal
tort law”; it does not provide @ause of action based on the @twoif due process or other
constitutional rightsSeeid.

Brown has alleged that the defendants aaigdther to violate Birights. He has not

alleged, however, that the actions of any defendené¢ taken because of Brown’s race or on the
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basis of other class-based disanatory animus. Thus, Brown fails to state a claim cognizable

under section 1985(3), and | dis$ his section 1985 clairBee 28 U.S.C. § 1915(e)(2)(b)(ii).
Section 1986 provides no substantive tggRRather, it provides a remedy for the

violation of section 1985. As a result, a prersdaifor an actionable claim under section 1986 is

a viable claim under section 19&®e Dwaresv. City of New York, 985 F.2d 94, 101 (2d Cir.

1993) (“Liability under 8 1986 . . . is dependentthe validity of a claim under § 1985.”).

Because Brown has not stated a section 1985 claim, his section 1986 is not actionable and is

dismissed.See 28 U.S.C. § 1915(e)(2)(b)(ii).

D. Conclusion

With respect to the claims asserted in the amended complaint, | order as follows:

1. The following claims under section 1983 dismissed for failure to comply with
Rules 8 or 20 of the Federal Rules o¥iClProcedure: the deal treatment and
lost dentures claims, the deliberate ffatience to mental health and safety
claims, and the segregation placement claims, all raised against Drs. Benoint,
Lichtenstein, Coursen, Chaplin, Bergada&Crabbe, Officer Aponte, Lieutenant
Halloran, Warden Santiago, Deputy Warslétartin and Zegerzewski, Captain
Shabenas, Grievance Coordinator King and Nurse Kim. Those claims also are
dismissed as barred by the prm@ending action doctrine.

2. The following claims under section 1983 are dismissed pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
1915(e)(2)(b)(ii): the claims that Conmsioner Semple, Aponte, Halloran, King,
and Drs. Berger, Trestman, Burns andflm, engaged in retaliatory conduct;
the First and Fourteenth Amendmentmigaiagainst Grievance Coordinator King

for her failure to properly process Brois grievances; the conspiracy claim
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against Grievance Coordinator Kirte Eighth Amendment claims against
Nurses Pepin and George and He&lhvices Administrator Brown; the
conditions of confinement in the obsereatistatus cell claim; the strip search
claim; and the Fifth and Sixth Amendment claims.

. The section 1985 and section 1986 clainescasmissed pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8
1915(e)(2)(b)(ii).

. The following section 1983 claims will pceed: the First Amendment retaliation
claim against Dr. Gagne; the Eighth Amendment claims for deliberate
indifference to safety and mental healteds against Commissioner Semple, Dr.
Trestman, Dr. Gagne, Dr. Crabbe, Berger, Dr. Burns, Dr. Chaplin, Dr.
Coursen, Warden Santiago, DepWarden Martin, Deputy Warden
Zegerzewski, Captain Shabenas, Lieutenant Halloran, Officer Aponte and
Administrator Labonte; the Fourteerdimendment Equal Protection claim
against Commissioner Semple, Dr. Trestman, Dr. Crabbe, Warden Santiago,
Deputy Warden Martin, Deputy Ward@egerzewski, Captain Shabenas,
Administrator Labonte, DiChaplin, Dr. Coursen, Dr. Berger, and Lieutenant
Halloran; and the claim of conspiracy to violate Brown’s constitutional rights
against Dr. Gagne, Dr. Crabbe, War@antiago, Deputy Warden Martin,
Deputy Warden Zegerzewski, Capt&habenas, Administrator Labonte, Dr.

Chaplin, Dr. Coursen, Dr. Bergeand Lieutenant Halloran.
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[I. Motion for Order [Doc. No. 78]
Motion for Order on Amended Complaint [Doc. No. 82]

In his first motion for order, Brown seekskoow the status of his request to amend. In
view of my ruling on Brown’s mion for leave to file an anmeled complaint, | deny as moot
Brown’s first motion for order, Doc. No. 78.

In his motion for an order on amended complaint, Brown states that he does not seek to
proceed in this action with regatal his claims against Dr. Caen, but instead seeks to file a
separate action regarding his glidions against Dr. Coursen. slicated above, | dismissed the
claims regarding Brown'’s relationship with Dr. Csen as duplicative of the claims raised in a
new action filed by Brown on August 7, 20Bfpwn v. Semple, No. 3:17-cv-01328 (SRU).
Accordingly, I deny as moot Bwn’s motion for an order on amended complaint, Doc. No. 82.
V. Motion to File Extra Interrogatories [Doc. No. 85]

Motion for Extension of Time [Doc. No. 95]

Brown seeks to serve additional interrogatodesll defendants. He claims that extra
interrogatories are needed to advance the litigatidhis case, that all questions are “prudenant
to the claims or claims sought,” and that hisnibia serving extra intergatories is not to be
burdensomeSee Doc. No. 85, at 1. Brown does rintlicate whether or how many
interrogatories he has alreasiyrved on the defendants.

Brown also seeks an extension of time to complete discovery. Brown mentions in his
motion that the parties are still inetiprocess of settlement discussions.

Because the parties are stillploring the possibility of settlement, | deny without
prejudice Brown’s motions to serve additional interrogatories and motion for extension of time
to conduct discoverysee Docs. Nos. 85 & 95. | will enter a wescheduling order, if necessary,

at a later time.
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V. Motion for Protective Order [Doc. No. 91]

Brown seeks an order directing Dr. Coursento contact him with regard to the
relationship that he had with her during himifinement at Corrigan prior to May 2016. Because
| have dismissed the claims against Dr. Coursiim rggard to her treatemt of Brown prior to
May 2016, and because Brown has filed a separdien against her regarding those claims,
Brown v. Semple, No. 3:17-cv-01328 (SRU)he motion for protective order is more
appropriately addressed in the new action. @teee, | deny without prejudice Brown’s motion
for protective order, Doc. No. 91. | will direttte Clerk to docket a copy of the motion for
protective order in the new case against Dr. Coursen.

To the extent that Brown claims that hes mat received sufficietherapy at Cheshire
regarding his treatment by and relationship \idith Coursen, the defendarshall address that
allegation in their response Brown’s motion for order fild on July 31, 2017, in which Brown
states that he has not been receiving a suffiaember of therapy visitsince Dr. Sanesario left

Cheshire See Mot. Order, Doc. No. 93.

VI. Conclusion

It is hereby ordered that:

(2) Brown’s Motion for Leave to Amend Complaimdc. No. 3Q and the first
Motion to Supplement Cover Page of the Amended ComglRamt. No. 34 areGRANTED.
The Clerk shall docket the proposed amended complaitéched to the motion, pages 2-59 of
Doc. No. 30, as the amended complaliite Clerk shall docket pages 60—-80 of Doc. No. 30 as
exhibits A to J of the amended complaint, a@odket Doc. No. 31 as exhibits K to UU to the

amended complainThe Clerk shall also docket the supplemental first page of the amended
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complaint attached to the motion to supplementc page, Doc. No. 34, at 5, as a supplemental
first page of the amended complaint.

The following section 1983 claims assel in the amended complaint &@ESMISSED
for failure to comply with Rules 8 or 20 ofdlirederal Rules of CiviProcedure: the dental
treatment and lost dentures claims, the delibéndifference to mental health and safety claims
and the segregation placement claims agé&instBenoint, Lichtenstein, Coursen, Chaplin,
Berger, and Crabbe, Officempante, Lieutenant Halloran, Wien Santiago, Deputy Wardens
Martin and Zegerzewski, Captain Shabenagvance Coordinator King and Nurse Kim. The
dental treatment and lost dergarclaims and the deliberate indifference to mental health and
safety claims are alddISMISSED as barred by the prior pding action doctrine.

The following section 1983 claims assel in the amended complaint &@ESMISSED
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 191%5(@)(b)(ii): the claims thaCommissioner Semple, Aponte,
Halloran, and King, and Drs. Berger, Trestmuatns, and Chaplin, engaged in retaliatory
conduct; the First and Fourteenth Amendmeaints against Grievance Coordinator King for
her failure to properly process Brown’s griaeas; the conspiracy claim against Grievance
Coordinator King; the Eighth Amendment claiagainst Nurses Pepin and George and Health
Services Administrator Brown; the conditiooisconfinement in thebservation status cell
claim; the strip search claim; and the Fifth and Sixth Amendment claims.

The section 1985 and 1986 claims asxkih the amended complaint @ESMISSED
pursuant to 28 U.S.®&. 1915(e)(2)(b)(ii).

Thus, all claims against defendants NuPepin, Nurse George, Health Services

Administrator Brown, Grievance Coortditor King and Nurse Kim have beBiSMISSED.
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The following section 1983 claims assertednie amended complaint will proceed: the
First Amendment retaliation claim against Dr. Gagne; the Eighth Amendment claims for
deliberate indifference to safety and mehtlth needs against Commissioner Semple, Dr.
Trestman, Dr. Gagne, Dr. Crabbe, Dr. Ber@at,Burns, Dr. Chaplin, Dr. Coursen, Warden
Santiago, Deputy Warden Martin, Deputy Wardegerzewski, Captain Shabenas, Lieutenant
Halloran, Officer Aponte, and Administratbabonte; the Fourteéim Amendment Equal
Protection claim against Comssioner Semple, Dr. Trestman, Dr. Crabbe, Warden Santiago,
Deputy Warden Martin, Deputy Warden Zegewski, Captain Shabenas, Administrator
Labonte, Dr. Chaplin, Dr. Coursen, Dr. Bergerd Lieutenant Halloran; and the claim of
conspiracy to violate Brown’s constitutionahts against Dr. Gagne, Dr. Crabbe, Warden
Santiago, Deputy Warden Martin, Deputy Men Zegerzewski, Captain Shabenas,
Administrator Labonte, Dr. Chép, Dr. Coursen, Dr. Berger, and Lieutenant Halloran.

The second Motion to Supplement CofAage of the Amended Complajbtoc. No. 3%,
the Motion for Orderoc. No. 78 and the Motion for Order on Amended ComplaDo€. No.
82] areDENIED as moot.

The Motion to File Extra Interrogatori¢9oc. No. 8%, the Motion for Extension of Time
[Doc. No. 9% and the Motion for Protective Orddd$c. No. 91 areDENIED without
prejudice.The Clerk shall docket a copy of the Matn for Protective OrdeiJoc. No. 91 in
Brown v. Semple, No. 3:17-cv-01328 (SRU).

(2) Because Brown paid the filing fee to commee this action, he is not entitled
to have service of the amended complaint effected by the couln. accordance with the
requirements of Rule 8rown shall effect service of the amerdieomplaint and a copy of this

order on Dr. Craig Burns and Dr. Bergetleir official and individual capacitieand shall
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effect service of the amended complaint arabpy of this order on each of the following
defendants in his or her inddual capacity: Dr. Paul Chaplihieutenant Halloran, and Dr.
Elizabeth Coursen. Returns of service and Waigk&ervice of Summons forms that have been
signed by the defendants shobklfiled with the courtrailure to comply with this order will
result in the dismissal of d claims against the defendants

The Clerk shall send Brown instructions for service of the amended complaint, together
with five copies of this order, five blank Notice of Lawdoitms and four blank Waiver of
Service of Summons forms, to enable Browsdove a copy of the comptd and a copy of this
order on each defendant in loisher individual capacitylThe Clerk also shallmail Brown two
blank summons forms for him to complete andmreto the Clerk for issuance to enable Brown
to serve a copy of the summons and amended leamhpnd a copy of this order on Drs. Craig
Burns and Berger in their official capacitiesngsthe address of the Office of the Attorney
General, 55 EIm Street, Heord, Connecticut 06141.

3) Defendants Burns, Berger, Chaplin, Halloran and Coursen shafile their
response to the amended complaint, either an answer or motion to digithisssixty (60)
daysfrom the date the notice of lawsuit and veaiof service of summons forms are mailed to
them.Defendants Semple, Trestman, Gagn€rabbe, Santiago, Martin, Zegerzewski,
Shabenas, Aponte, and Labonte shdlile an answer to the amended complavithin thirty
(30) daysof the date of his order. If the defendactisose to file an answer, they shall admit or
deny the allegations and respondhe cognizable claims recitedbove. They may also include
any and all additional defenses permitted by the Federal Rules.

(4)  Within twenty (20) daysof the date of this ordethe defendants shalfile a

response to Brown'’s claim that he has not ramsufficient therapy regarding his treatment by

30



and relationship with Dr. Coursen, as includethe Motion for Protecte Order, Doc. No. 91,
and shall also respond to the allegations, which are included in the Motion for Order, Doc. No.
93, pertaining to Brown’s claim that he has heen receiving a suéfient number of therapy

visits since Dr. Sanesario left Cheshigee Mot. Order, Doc. No. 93.

So ordered.
Dated at Bridgeport, Connectictihis 25th day of September 2017.
/s/ STEFAN R. UNDERHILL

Stefan R. Underhill
United States District Judge
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